



ORNL/TM-12139

OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY

alter and a state of the second s

Groundwater Flow Delineation Study at the Massachusetts Military Reservation Using the Colloidal Borescope

P. M. Kearl F. G. Gardner M. J. Gunderson

Environmental Sciences Division Publication No. 3918

CAR BROGE NATIONAL LABORATION

CONTRACTERS FARING LURIDA DA CHECHLATION SECTION COMPLETED AND COPY

OD NOT TRANSPER TO AMOTHER REPORT

If you wish someone else to see this report, send in name with report and the fibrally will arrange a loss. ulahazara a ata



MANAGED BY MARTIN MARIETTA ENERGY SYSTEMS, INC. FOR THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

This report has been reproduced directly from the best available copy.

Available to DOE and DOE contractors from the Critice of Scientific and Technicel Information, P.O. Sox 62, Oak Ridge, TN 37831; prices evailable from (615) 576-8401, FTS 626-8401.

Available to the public from the National Technicel Information Service, U.S. Department of Commerce, 5285 Port Royal Rd., Springfield, VA 22161.

This report was prepared as an occount of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees, makes any werranty, express or implied, or ascimes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Peterance herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise, does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsament, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government or any agency thereof. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government or any agency thereof.

ORNL/TM-12139

902-11

GROUNDWATER FLOW DELINEATION STUDY AT THE MASSACHUSETTS MILITARY RESERVATION USING THE COLLOIDAL BORESCOPE

P. M. Kearl

F. G. Gardner M. J. Gunderson

Environmental Sciences Division Publication No. 3918

Date Published—February 1993

Prepared for HAZWRAP SUPPORT CONTRACTOR OFFICE OAK RIDGE, TENNESSEE

Prepared by OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY GRAND JUNCTION, COLORADO managed by MARTIN MARIEITA ENERGY SYSTEMS, INC. for the U.S. DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY under contract DE-AC05-84OR21400



3 4456 0370121 5

CONTENTS

FIGURES v
TABLES v
ABSTRACT vii
1. INTRODUCTION 1
2. SITE BACKGROUND
2.1. SITE HISTORY
2.1.1 Areas of Study 2
2.1.2 Geologic Setting 2
2.1.3 Site Hydrology 5
2.2 INSTRUMENT DEVELOPMENT AND DESCRIPTION 6
2.3 METHODS 7
2.3.1 Initial Setup of Equipment
2.3.2 Recording Field Measurements
2.3.3 Data Analysis 10
2.3.4 Calibration Coefficient 12
2.4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION 13
2.4.1 Field Measurements 13
2.4.2 Data Analysis 19
3. CONCLUSIONS
REFERENCES
ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

FIGURES

1.	Location map for the MMR on the Western Cape
2.	Geologic map of the Western Cape 4
3.	Diagram of instrument
4.	Location map of the four study areas at MMR 14
5.	Potentiometric map for CS-4 and vicinity 15
6.	Potentiometric map for STP 16
7.	Potentiometric map for the 603 Well/Crane Wildlife area 17
8.	Potentiometric map for the Sandwich area 18

TABLES

1.	Data summary sheet:	CS-4 and vicinity areas	20
2.	Data summary sheet:	Sewage Treatment Plant (STP)	21
3.	Data summary sheet:	MW603 Site/Crane Wildlife area	22
4.	Data summary sheet:	Sandwich Gate and Camp Good News area	23
5.	Gradient calculations		24
6.	Velocity calibration co	efficient calculations	26

APPLICATION OF THE COLLOIDAL BORESCOPE IN A GROUNDWATER FLOW DELINEATION STUDY AT THE MASSACHUSETTS MILITARY RESERVATION

ABSTRACT

Observations of colloidal movement under natural conditions using the colloidal borescope were conducted at several sites in the vicinity of the Massachusetts Military Reservation (MMR) located on Cape Cod. The purpose of the study was to assess the reliability of the colloidal borescope and provide additional hydrogeologic data for site-characterization work. Because of the variability observed in groundwater flow at other sites, a well-characterized site was needed to test the borescope. Results of this work indicate that existing hydrologic information specific to the various sites tested at the MMR compares favorably with the borehole velocity data collected with the colloidal borescope. Direction measurements at the MMR, however, appear to be less reliable than at other sites tested. Most significant among factors potentially affecting direction measurements is the relatively flat hydraulic gradient at the MMR, which is an order of magnitude less than at other sites. This is due to the gentle topography and the relatively high permeability of the aquifer. Under these conditions, the geometric alignment of preferential flow paths could dominate flow direction. If the gradient is increased, flow will tend to parallel the hydraulic gradient. This report describes the field site and the colloidal borescope and discusses the results and conclusions of the field investigations.

1. INTRODUCTION

The colloidal borescope, developed at Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL) in Grand Junction, Colorado, is capable of determining groundwater flow direction and rate *in situ*. Unlike conventional hydraulic testing methods, no water is extracted from the well and disposal costs are avoided. Because of the *in situ* advantage of the colloidal borescope, it was selected to measure groundwater flow rates in the Sandwich area at the Massachusetts Military Reservation (MMR) on Cape Cod.

Preliminary investigations have indicated that groundwater contamination is present in the Sandwich area. Because of the prolific aquifer underlying the area, a conventional pump test for measuring hydraulic properties would require the disposal of large quantities of potentially contaminated water. To avoid these costs and obtain the necessary hydraulic information, the colloidal borescope was tested at the site.

Since the colloidal borescope is an experimental instrument, it was necessary to perform tests at several sites on MMR where conventional hydraulic tests have been previously conducted. Using calibration data from these sites, flow rates could then be measured in the Sandwich area.

This report discusses the site background, describes the instrument, and presents the results of the field investigation.

2. SITE BACKGROUND

2.1 SITE HISTORY

The MMR is located in the western portion (western cape) of Cape Cod (Fig. 1). Several facilities, including those operated by the U.S. Coast Guard, U.S. Army National Guard, U.S. Air Force, U.S. Air National Guard, Veterans Administration, and Commonwealth of Massachusetts, are located within the reservation.

The reservation occupies about 22,000 acres, with the earliest military activity dating back to 1911. Most military operations, however, have occurred since 1935 and consisted of mechanized army training and military aircraft operations.

2.1.1 Areas of Study

The colloidal borescope studies focused on four areas located within and adjacent to the reservation. Area selection was based on the inventory of available hydrologic information and the need for additional hydrologic data. Three areas had sufficient hydrologic data available to assess the reliability of the borescope. The fourth study area (Sandwich area), however, lacked the necessary data to evaluate instrument reliability.

2.1.2 Geologic Setting

Topographic features of the Western Cape are controlled by two major surficial geologic units. Hummocky ridges dominate areas underlain by glacial moraines such as the Buzzards Bay moraine (BBM) and the Sandwich moraine (SM) (Fig. 2). Here, rapid changes in elevation of 18 to 30 m are common (Jordan 1988). In contrast, the topography of the outwash plains is generally flatter, and changes in elevations are limited to kettle holes that have pitted the ground surface. This area is called the Mashpee Pitted Plain (MPP).



Fig. 1. Location map for the MMR on the Western Cape.

·



Fig. 2. Geologic map of the Western Cape.

MPP sediments range in approximate thickness from 69 m near the moraines to 30 m near the shore of Nantucket Sound. They are characterized by well-sorted sand and gravel, known as outwash, or stratified drift deposited by glaciofluvial transport in a proglacial environment (Jordan 1988). The MPP was deposited between the two adjacent glacial lobes as the sediment-laden meltwater from the two lobes flowed seaward (Oldale 1981). After the deposition of the MPP, the glacial lobes advanced creating the BBM and SM. Discontinuous sedimentary structures and other stratigraphic variations such as cross-bedding suggest that the geometry of the two advancing glacial lobes had a significant effect on the depositional environment of the MPP (Jordan 1988).

The fluvial processes that controlled the depositional environment of the Western Cape resulted in well-sorted sediments with relatively uniform grain-size distribution that are typically very permeable. The MPP is considered a relatively homogenous stratigraphic unit on a regional scale. However, local investigations of areas on the MMR suggest heterogeneities are present in the MPP. These heterogeneities result in variations in the permeability and in the ability of the sediments to conduct groundwater.

Previous geologic investigations beneath the MPP have encountered either fine-grained glaciolacustrine stratum or dense basal till beneath the outwash sediments. More information of the geology of Cape Cod is presented in publications by Oldale (1981) and Oldale and Barlow (1986).

2.1.3 Site Hydrology

It has been established in the literature that the thickness of the aquifer in the vicinity of the MMR is approximately 100 m of unconsolidated sediments. LeBlanc et al (1991) determined that the upper 30 m of the aquifer consist of permeable, stratified, sand and gravel outwash that is underlain by 70 m of fine-grained sand and silt. According to these investigators, the median grain size of the outwash is approximately 0.5 mm, and silt and clay content is less than 1%.

Based on the number of hydrologic investigations conducted in the area, there is a wide range of hydraulic conductivity (K) values for the outwash aquifer material (10 to 244 m/day). The range is attributable not only to the variability of measurement techniques but to the heterogeneity of the aquifer sediments as well. Review of the literature suggests a K value in the range of 110 m/day provides a realistic conductivity that can be applied to three of the study areas in this report. Analysis of the colloidal borescope data for the fourth site indicates the permeability for this area is considerably higher. This is supported by pumping test data from a nearby well that estimate a K value approaching 250 m/day in this area.

The literature reports effective porosity (n) values for the outwash sediments ranging from 0.20 to 0.40. Based on small-scale tracer tests and spacial moments analysis in a large-scale tracer test, LeBlanc et al. (1991) estimated an effective porosity of 0.39, which was used in the calculations presented in this report.

The hydraulic gradient (i) for each study area was determined using waterlevel and well-location information. The gradient values calculated are all within the range reported in the literature with one exception. The gradient calculated for the fourth study area is lower by one order of magnitude. Increased permeability in this area, as suggested by pumping test results in a nearby well, may account for the lack of influence this flatter gradient had on the observed borehole flow velocities. The general direction of flow for the aquifer is to the south, which is affected locally by kettle ponds.

2.2 INSTRUMENT DEVELOPMENT AND DESCRIPTION

The colloidal borescope was developed at ORNL as part of the Exploratory Studies Program. The instrument consists of two stainless steel housings that are connected by a threaded, multi-pin coupling. The upper housing or compass module contains a charge-coupled device (CCD) camera, an illumination source, and a fluid-filled ball compass. The lower housing or instrument module contains a second CCD camera, an optical magnification lens, and illumination sources. A

diagram of the colloidal borescope is provided in Fig. 3. The device is approximately 100 cm long and has a diameter of 44 mm, facilitating insertion into a 5-cm-diameter observation well. After insertion into the observation well, the electronic image is transmitted to the surface by a 62-m fiber optic umbilical cable, where it is viewed on a 25-cm monitor and recorded on VHS tape for further analysis. The magnified image recorded on the VHS tape corresponds to a field of view of approximately $1 \times 1.44 \times 0.1$ mm.

2.3 METHODS

2.3.1 Initial Setup of Equipment

The umbilical fiber optic cable is removed from the shipping container and uncoiled to remove any kinks and twists. It is important to keep the multi-pin connectors at both ends of the cable clean during this process. After the cable has been straightened, the multi-pin connector unions of the cable, the compass module, and the instrument module are inspected before connections are attempted. The cleanliness and integrity of the electrical pins, O-ring seals, alignment slots, and threaded couplings should be assessed to promote proper alignment and seal during assembly.

Following inspection of the multi-pin connectors, the compass module is attached to the male end of the umbilical cable. The instrument module is then attached to the male end of the compass module. If the multi-pin connectors are clean and aligned properly, they should slide together under moderate hand pressure. Threaded couplings should be hand tightened only; wrenching of the threaded couplings should not be attempted. If the threaded couplings become tight, the connector union is gently jiggled by hand while pressing the male/female couplings together. This should facilitate further tightening of the threaded coupling. If resistance is still apparent, the connection is disassembled and the pin alignment and cleanliness of threads reinspected. It is most important that these connections are not forced.



Fig. 3. Diagram of instrument.

ω

COLLOIDAL BORESCOPE

Assessment of Colloid Movement and Groundwater Velocity in Monitoring Wells using Video Optic Techniques

TECHNOLOGY DATA SHEET

TECHNIC CONTAC	AL TS	Pete M. Kearl Environmental Science Division Oak Ridge National Laboratory P. O. Box 2567 Grand Junction, CO 81502 (303) 248-6211	Scott List Energy/Environment Systems Division Oak Ridge Institute for Science and Education P. O. Box 2657 Grand Junction, CO 81502 (303) 248-6190	
THE TECHNOI	The instrument consists of a charge- DLOGY coupled device (CCD) camera, an optical magnification lens, an illumination source, a down-hole compass to assess direction of natural flow, and a watertight stainless steel housing. The instrument is approximately 60 cm long, with a		diameter of 44 mm. The electronic image is transmitted to the surface by a 33 m fiber optic cable. The image is viewed on a high resolution 2 cm monitor and recorded on VHS tape for further analysis. The magnified image corresponds to a 1.0 x 0.4 x 0.1 mm field of view.	
BENEFITS	water f effectiv The bo	The colloidal borescope provides a direct means of accurately determining ground- low direction and velocity in a more cost remanner than conventional methodologies. rescope measurement technique uses	existing monitoring wells for assessment and thus avoids the cost of additional well installation. Data is obtained in minutes, as opposed to hours or days, to complete conventional groundwater flow measurements.	
CAPABILI	distribu magnit capabil unders level. 1 cities ir instrun	The colloidal borescope is capable of determining the vertical and spatial ation of local groundwater velocity, both in ude and direction. The observational ities provide the potential for enhancing an tanding of porous flow at the most basic t is capable of measuring direction and velo- a low- and high-permeable material. The ment could provide the basis for a stochasti-	cally based groundwater flow and transport model that more accurately describes the move- ment of contaminants in the subsurface. The instrument also provides the capability of observ- ing flow processes at the pore scale. The instru- ment is capable of assessing local flow velocities ranging from 0 to 15 mm/sec, which greatly exceeds even the fastest groundwater flow veloci- ties in monitoring wells.	
APPLICAT	TIONS observi ground applica determ assessi media; contam proper remedi	The borescope is used as in-situ instrumentation capable of directly ing colloidal size particles and subsequent water flow direction and rate. Current tions include: site characterization by ining preferential flow paths and fractures; ing heterogeneities associated with porous establishing the existence of immiscible inant layers and their associated flow ties; assessing the efficiency of groundwater ation programs by determining the effective	radius of influence of groundwater extraction systems; determining the amount of biological activity present in a bioremediation system; and evaluating the effects of sampling on colloidal concentrations. Potential applications include providing physical observation capabilities necessary to develop and confirm new, more accurate theoretical models of the porous media flow process and assessing the effects of water sampling techniques on natural colloidal concen- trations.	

October 1992



1

LIMITATIONS Colloidal density is greatly affected by perturbations caused by instrument insertion. A period of 30 min. is generally

REQUIREMENTS Complete well records, a thorough understanding of well construction and development techniques are essential. The

USER REFERENCES Joe Rossabi Westingouse, Savannah River Building 773-42A Aiken, SC 29802 (803) 725-5220 required for transient turbulence to decline. Flow under low gradient conditions is not in a uniform, consistent direction.

operation of the instrument and data interpretation is straight forward.

Robert Puls Environmental Protection Agency Robert S. Kerr Environmental Research Laboratory P. O. Box 1198 Ada, OK 74820 (405) 332-2262

ILLUSTRATIONS



Prepared by the Integrated Program for Characterization, Monitoring and Sensor Technology and the Technology Integration Program, Ames Laboratory, lowa State University, Ames, lowa S0011, (515) 294-4986. The information for this Technology Data Sheet was provided by Scott List, Oak Ridge Institute for Science and Education.

Nothing in this document should be interpreted to be an endorsement by DOE, Ames Laboratory, or Iown State University. U.S. Department of Energy Office of Environmental Restoration and Waste Management Office of Technology Development Integrated Program for Characterization, Monitoring and Sensor Technology

October 1992



After connecting the female end of the cable to the video monitor/control console, the video recorder may be connected. The video in/out signal from the video recorder is connected to the video monitor/control console via the video signal cables supplied with the video recorder.

Finally, the measuring tape is attached to the instrument module to assess the depth of the field of view in the well. The zero mark of the measuring tape is positioned at the focal point of the instrument, approximately midway between the back lighting source and the optic window of the instrument. The measuring tape is then secured to the cable approximately 1 m above the cable/compass module union. The lower end of the measuring tape is folded back and secured to the cable. Any loose folds or loops in the measuring tape that may catch on protrusions extending into the well bore must be secured.

Once electrical power is connected to the video monitor/control console and the video recorder, the instrument is ready for insertion into the observation well to record flow data.

Prior to insertion into the observation well, the compass module and instrument module are aligned with the top of the instrument camera corresponding to magnetic north as indicated by the compass module. A notch has been scribed in the instrument housing that corresponds to the top of the instrument camera. Once the alignment is completed, a mark is made on the compass module that matches the notch on the instrument module. A toggle switch on the monitor allows the operator to change between "compass view" and "forward view" to verify the alignment procedure. The multi-pin union connecting the compass and instrument modules is tightened to prevent any further rotation of the modules. The alignment of the modules is periodically checked during use to prevent the collection of erroneous directional data.

2.3.2 Recording Field Measurements

After locating the observation well, a water-level measurement is taken and recorded in the field notebook. The borescope instrument is lowered into the well to the desired depth and secured at the surface with a clamp. The monitor is

turned on and the "compass view" switch is toggled. The borescope is then rotated by turning the cable until the compass needle points to the top of the monitor. The "forward view" switch is toggled, and flow is observed until steady, consistent movement is obtained. The recorder is turned on, the prenumbered VHS tape inserted, and approximately 15 min. of data recorded. Before the recording of colloids begins, the "compass view" switch is toggled, and the compass direction is recorded for approximately 30 s. Then, without turning off the recorder, the "forward view" switch is toggled, and the recording of colloids begins. After the colloid recording is complete, the "compass view" is toggled, and the compass direction is recorded again without stopping the tape. The field notebook is used to record the date of colloid measurement, the VHS tape number, the well number and location, the depth of the interval being recorded, the depth to water, and the time recording begins and ends for each well or depth interval measured. Also noted are the general direction of flow, degree of observed vertical flow, any changes of flow direction observed while recording, and any other observations useful to the analysis of the data. Any changes in procedures are also recorded in the field notebook.

2.3.3 Data Analysis

Measurement of colloid velocity in the well bore is accomplished by analysis of the recorded images. This analysis begins by connecting the video monitor/control console to a VHS recorder equipped with a jog/shuttle that permits a frame-byframe analysis. Data recorded in the field notebook are used to verify which VHS tape is being analyzed by comparing the VHS tape number, the observed flow directions, and the recording lengths of specified intervals. Once the verification is complete, the actual data analysis begins by viewing the recorded compass direction at the beginning of the recording. A straight edge and a felt-tip pen are used to record the compass direction on the video monitor screen. The tape is then fast-forwarded to the compass recording at the end of that particular recording segment to determine if there was any movement of the instrument during the recording. If these directions do not coincide, the compass direction recorded at

the end of the segment is marked on the monitor screen, and the first compass direction mark is erased.

The tape is then rewound to the first compass recording and allowed to play at normal speed. After a colloidal particle is selected, the tape is stopped using the jog shuttle, the position of the colloid is noted on the screen, and the tape is advanced 40 frames. The position of the colloid is again noted on the screen. The distance between the colloid's initial position and final position is measured and recorded in centimeters. To determine the direction of colloid movement, a straight line connecting the initial and final colloid positions is drawn to intersect the compass direction line previously marked on the screen. A protractor is used to measure the angle, and the bearing is recorded. The bearing recorded should then be adjusted for the known magnetic declination applicable to the location. To obtain representative data on colloid velocity and direction for that particular recorded interval, the above procedure is repeated eight to twelve times by advancing the tape 1 to 2 min between individual colloid measurement. The mean of the distances recorded is calculated and then divided by the number of frames used (40 frames) during each measurement to obtain a value in cm/frame. To obtain a value in cm/s and to correct for the magnification factor of 140X, the cm/frame value is multiplied by 0.214 frames/s. This latter coefficient is derived by multiplying the speed of the tape (30 frames/s) by the inverse of the magnification factor (1/140).

While observed colloidal movement has been generally uniform, some slight perturbations do exist. In order to smooth out these perturbations and obtain a more representative value of the macroscopic average flow velocity, numerous colloid velocity measurements at specific flow depths are needed. Therefore, the representativeness of the macroscopic average for a particular area is generally a function of the number of measurements made at a specific flow depth. Colloid velocity is thus expressed as the mean of a specific set of measurements.

2.3.4 Calibration Coefficient

Because groundwater flows from a porous medium of finite permeability and porosity to a cylinder of infinite permeability and a porosity of one, potential flow theory indicates higher flow velocities in the borehole by a factor of two. Drost et al. (1968) predicted flow velocities in the borehole four times higher than the adjacent porous medium. Cronk (1992) has proposed a continuum approach that can explain flow velocities higher then those predicted either by Drost et al. (1968) or by potential flow theory. Previous field measurements have shown borehole velocities to be 15 to 25 times higher than those of the adjacent porous medium. To date, no obvious explanation for the observed high velocity field in the well bore has been developed; however, valuable insight has been gained concerning the physical mechanisms governing flow at the pore scale.

In order to equate bore hole velocity with seepage velocity, a calibration coefficient is needed. Obtaining the coefficient was a major goal of this investigation. The calibration coefficient (F_c) is calculated by combining Eqs. (1) (Darcy's Law) and (2) to produce Eq. (3):

$$(\overline{v}) = \frac{Ki}{n} \tag{1}$$

$$(\bar{v}_{p}) = (\bar{v})F_{c} \tag{2}$$

$$(\bar{v}_{p}) = \frac{Ki}{n} F_{c}$$
(3)

Solving for F_c yields Eq.(4):

$$F_{c} = \frac{(\bar{v}_{B})n}{Ki}$$
(4)

The variables in the above equations are defined as follows:

 $(\bar{\mathbf{v}}_{\rm B})$ = average velocity in borehole,

K = hydraulic conductivity,

i = hydraulic gradient,

n = effective porosity,

 F_c = calibration factor relating borehole velocity to seepage velocity,

 (\bar{v}) = average seepage velocity.

2.4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

2.4.1 Field Measurements

Field measurements at the four study areas were collected in September and December 1991. These areas are known as the CS-4/Vicinity area, the Sewage Treatment Plant (STP), the Sandwich area, and the 603 Wells/Crane Wildlife area and are illustrated in Fig. 4.

Colloid measurements were collected from 53 depth intervals in 28 wells. Several measurements were collected in the same well bore at different depths. Colloid measurements were attempted on an additional 29 intervals in 25 wells but were not achieved for various reasons, including bad recordings (too dark), swirling or vertical flow, lack of measurable colloids, and sediment-filled screens in wells. Water-level data collected from 44 wells were used to construct study-area potentiometric maps (Figs. 5 through 8) and to calculate area-specific hydraulic gradients. Hydraulic borehole colloid velocity and seepage conductivity measurements and well logs were provided by Hazardous Waste Remedial Actions Program (HAZWRAP).



Fig. 4. Location map of the four study areas at MMR.



Fig. 5. Potentiometric map for CS-4 and vicinity.



Fig. 6. Potentiometric map for STP.



Fig. 7. Potentiometric map for the 603 Well/Crane Wildlife area,



Fig. 8. Potentiometric map for the Sandwich area.

2.4.2 Data Analysis

Results from the colloid measurements performed at the four study areas are presented in the Tables 1, 2, 3, and 4. Data presented include the well number, the depth of the interval measured below casing level (BCL), the elevation of the interval measured above mean sea level, the bearing of the observed flow direction, and the observed borehole colloid velocity in cm/s. At the bottom of each table are the means and standard deviations of the borehole colloid velocities for the specific study area.

The variability in flow directions suggests that certain hydrologic parameters may present significant problems for the instrument's reliability. The relatively flat hydraulic gradient at the site, which is up to two orders of magnitude less than at other sites, may potentially affect direction measurements. Considering the relatively gentle topography and high permeability of the aquifer, geometric alignment of preferential flow paths may be dominating flow direction. If the gradient were increased, the preferential flow paths should parallel the hydraulic gradient.

Gradient calculations for each of the areas are presented in Table 5. Calibration coefficients (F_c) calculated by comparing borehole flow velocities determined by the instrument with existing hydrologic information from the site are in good agreement. The F_c is determined by dividing the product of the mean borebore colloid velocity (\bar{v}_B) and the effective porosity (n) by the product of the hydraulic conductivity (K) and the hydraulic gradient (i) as shown in Eq. (4). The F_c is a particularly sensitive number because it expresses the relationship between velocities of adjacent porous media. The accuracy and reliability of the instrument are profoundly affected when incorrect values for K, n, and i are used. Therefore, basic assumptions relating to the validity of the existing hydrologic data are made in the reliability testing of the colloidal borescope.

A review of the literature indicated that a K value of 110 m/day and an n value of 0.39 should be used to represent three of the study areas. The hydraulic gradient was calculated using water-level data gathered at each site. It should be noted that the gradient values for three of the four study areas are in good

Well number	Interval BCL ^e , m	Interval elev [*] , m	Flow direction	Flow velocity, cm/s
FS18-MW1	21.33	17.24	S11E S03W	0.0072
FS18-MW1	21.64	16.93	S67W S32E	0.0083
FS18-MW1	21.94	16.63	N87W S67W	0.0080
FS18-MW2	21.49	17.58	S89W S66W	0.0039
FS18-MW2	21.79	17.28	S20W S30W	0.0065
FS18-MW2	22.09	16.98	S04W S35W	0.0080
FS7-MW1	23.32	17.08	S23E S61E	0.0041
FS7-MW1	23.47	16.93	N70E N87E	0.014
FS7-MW1	23.62	16.78	EAST S59W	0.0064
FS7-MW1	23.93	16.47	No distinct flow	ND
CS4-MW1	23.16	16.57	S15W S04W	0.0094
CS4-MW3	23.16	16.57	N08W N04E	0.014
CS4-MW4	23.16	17.73	N06E N21E	0.010
CS4-MW9	22.58	16.33	N21E N20E	0.0074
CS4-MW10	23.77	17.48	S66E N43E	0.013
CS4-MW11	22.55	17.02	N31E N20E	0.013
FS9-MW3	21.64	16.35	S46W S35W	0.012
FS19-MW1	19.81	16.07	N05E S57E	0.018
CS5-MW1	22.25	16.11	S58E S64E	0.018

Table 1. Data summary shee	t: CS-4 and vicinity areas
----------------------------	----------------------------

= 0.011 cm/smean = 0.004 cm/sσ

^a BCL = below casing level. ^b elev = elevation above mean sea level.

ND = not detected.

Well number	Interval BCL [*] , m	Interval elev ⁴ , m	Flow direction	Flow velocity, cm/s
11/2	0.02	12.20	67233/ 69733/	0.024
WZ	0.43	15.20	SISW SOIW	0.024
W2	10.97	10.46	N35W NUIW	0.009
W2	12.50	8.93	S69W S78W	0.029
W2	14.02	7.41	S65W S46W	0.014
W2	15.54	5.89	S66E S48W	0.017
W2	17.07	4.36	S77E S60E	0.013
W2	18.59	2.84	S27E S23E	0.010
W2	20.12	1.31	S20E S35E	0.0062
W3	13.11	11.43	S89W N63W	0.011
W3	14.63	9.91	N25E N35E	0.024
W3	16.15	8.39	S80W WEST	0.014
W3	17.68	6.86	S67W S55W	0.024
W3	22.25	2.29	S50E S70E	0.022
W4	16.15	12.20	S69E N89E	0.014
W4	17.68	10.67	S75E N81E	0.0069
W4	22.25	6.10	N55E N75E	0.019
W4	23.77	4.58	N24W N37W	0.016
W4	25.30	3.05	N71W N85W	0.012
W4	26.82	1.53	S63W S76W	0.012
W5	22.86	6.73	N07E N15E	0.015
W5	24.39	5.20	N11E N15E	0.013
W5	25.91	3.68	N42E N21E	0.0082

Table 2.	Data summary sheet:	Sewage Treatment	Plant (STP)
----------	---------------------	------------------	-------------

mean = 0.016 cm/s $\sigma = 0.007 \text{ cm/s}$

^a BCL = below casing level. ^b elev = elevation above mean sea level.

Well number	Interval BCL ⁴ , m	Interval elev ⁴ , m	Flow direction	Flow velocity cm/s	
MW1202D	20.73	11.61	N53E N73E	0.0106	
MW1202E	17.98	14.39	N05W N45E	0.0103	
MW603B	32.00	-0.53	N49E S06W	0.011	
MW603C	25.91	5.67	N84W N46W	0.00974	
MW603E	17.83	13.88	N69E N29E	0.0113	
MW1213	42.37	-12.81	No distinct flow	ND	

Table 3. Data summary sheet:	MW603 Site/Crane Wildlife area
------------------------------	--------------------------------

mean = 0.011 cm/s = 0.00061 cm/sσ

^a BCL = below casing level. ^b elev = elevation above mean sea level.

ND = not detected

Well number	Interval BCL ⁴ , m	Interval elev [*] , m	Flow direction	Flow velocity cm/s
GMW23	48.77	-0.35	N29E N69E	0.0113
GMW22	35.66	-2.32	S66E N54E	0.00515
GMW1	41.76	7.31	S16W S48E	0.0094
GMW2	28.65	20.36	N15W N32W	0.0136
GMW7	56.39	-7.40	N40E North	0.0093
GMW13	26.21	19.98	No distinct flow	ND

Table 4.	Data summary sheet:	Sandwich Gate and	Camp Good News area

mean = 0.0098 cm/s = 0.00311 cm/sσ

^a BCL = below casing level. ^b elev = elevation above mean sea level.

ND = not detected

Table 5. Gradient calculations

Gradient for CS-4/vicinity areas:

$$\frac{17.92 \text{ m} - 17.19 \text{ m}}{495.28 \text{ m}} = 0.0015$$

Gradient for STP:

$$\frac{14.17 \text{ m} - 13.87 \text{ m}}{117.34 \text{ m}} = 0.0026$$

Gradient for the Sandwich area:

 $\frac{20.88 \text{ m} - 20.42 \text{ m}}{1066.75 \text{ m}} = 0.00043$

Gradient for the 603 Wells/Crane Wildlife area:

 $\frac{14.65 \text{ m} - 12.16 \text{ m}}{1341.1 \text{ m}} = 0.0019$

agreement with the literature. The gradient in the Sandwich area, however, is lower by an order of magnitude. Continuity would dictate that if a groundwater system exhibits different hydraulic gradients, then the permeability must vary proportionally in these areas. Evidence of a higher K value is provided by pumping-test data from a well located within a few miles of the Sandwich area. Therefore, a K value of 244 m/day was used for F_e calculations in the Sandwich area.

Borehole logs for all wells in the four areas of study relative to this report were examined to determine the measurement interval depth and verify that the sediments adjacent to the screened intervals corresponded to the outwash sediments. The elevation of the intervals measured (Tables 1, 2, 3, and 4) ranges from a high of 20.36 m above mean sea level to a low of 12.81 m below mean sea level.

3. CONCLUSIONS

Mixed results in measured groundwater flow direction and velocity were obtained from the field tests conducted at the MMR using the colloidal borescope. The goal of obtaining a calibration coefficient for flow in the borehole versus flow in the adjacent porous medium was met with partial success. Calibration coefficients in areas where the hydraulic conductivity is relatively uniform were in excellent agreement (Table 6). The Sandwich area showed a significant variance when compared to the other areas. There is evidence, specifically a pumping test in an adjacent area, of a higher hydraulic conductivity that, when incorporated into Eq. (4), would yield a calibration coefficient comparable to those of the other sites tested at the MMR. This would indicate that groundwater flow velocity in the Sandwich area is similar to velocities at the other sites across the MMR. In fact, hydraulic conductivity values based on borescope measurements may be 30% higher than the pump test value for the Sandwich area. Assuming that the hydraulic conductivity values from nearby areas used to determine the calibration coefficients are realistic, field tests at the MMR are encouraging with respect to

Table 6. Velocity calibration coefficient calculations

The calibration coefficient (F_c) is calculated by combining equations 5 and 6 to produce equation 7:

$$(\vec{\nu}) = \frac{Ki}{n} \tag{1}$$

$$(\bar{v}_{B}) = (\bar{v})F_{c}$$
(2)

$$(\bar{v}_{B}) = \frac{Ki}{n} F_{c}$$
(3)

Solving for Fc yields equation 8:

$$F_{c} = \frac{(\bar{v}_{B})n}{Ki}$$
(4)

where:

$$(\bar{v}_{B})$$
 = average velocity in borehole, cm/s

$$K$$
 = hydraulic conductivity, m/d

n = effective porosity,

 F_c = calibration factor relating borehole velocity to seepage velocity,

 $(\vec{\nu})$ = average seepage velocity, m/d

Table 6. (continued)

Calibration coefficient calculation for CS-4 and vicinity areas:

$$F_{c} = \frac{(0.010 \text{ cm/s}) (0.39)}{(110 \text{ m/d}) (100 \text{ cm/s}) (\frac{d}{86,400s}) (0.0026)}$$
(9)

$$F_c = 20$$

Calibration coefficient calculation for STP:

$$F_{c} = \frac{(0.016 \text{ cm/s}) (0.39)}{(110 \text{ m/d}) (100 \text{ m/s}) (\frac{d}{86,400s}) (0.0026)}$$
(10)
$$F_{c} = 19$$

Calibration coefficient calculation for the Camp Good News/Sandwich Gate area:

$$F_{c} = \frac{(0.0098 \text{ cm/s}) (0.39)}{(244 \text{ m/d}) (100 \text{ cm/s}) (\frac{d}{86,400s}) (0.00043)}$$

$$F_{c} = 31$$
(11)

Calibration coefficient calculation for the 603 Area/Crane Wildlife area:

$$F_{c} = \frac{(0.011 \text{ cm/s}) (0.39)}{(110 \text{ m/d}) (100 \text{ cm/s}) (\frac{d}{86,400 \text{ s}}) (0.0019)}$$
(12)
$$F_{c} = 18$$

measuring groundwater velocity.

As encouraging as the groundwater velocity data are, groundwater flow directions are equally puzzling. For all sites tested, there is no discernable direction for groundwater flow as observed using the colloidal borescope. Groundwater flow directions did not match flow directions predicted from area potentiometric maps. These results contradict earlier tests conducted at field sites in Kansas City, Mo, Portland, Maine, and Georgetown, S.C. Measurements taken in Oak Ridge, Tenn., however, did not yield expected groundwater flow directions. This discrepancy in flow direction suggests that the relatively flat hydraulic gradient at the MMR results in the geometric alignment of preferential flow paths that could dominate flow direction. If the gradient is increased, flow will tend to parallel the hydraulic gradient.

It is apparent from the tests conducted at the MMR that there is variability in the results obtained by the colloidal borescope. This variability may be due to the natural heterogeneities inherent in a porous medium, the influences of well construction, and the microscopic scale of flow measurements in describing a macroscopic flow system. The agreement of flow velocities and the reliability of flow directions measured at other field sites strongly indicate that flow observations of colloids in a wellbore are representative of groundwater flow in the adjacent porous medium. The variability in measurement, however, suggests that many measurements, statistically analyzed, are necessary for reliably predicting groundwater flow and velocity.

At present, laboratory tests are underway to assess the influences of well construction, varying lithologies, and measurement depths of observed flow. Plans have been made to obtain funding to automate data analysis using image processing technology. With rapid data analysis, it will be possible to obtain the amount of data needed to statistically analyze the variability in measurements, thereby assessing the reliability of the colloidal borescope as an effective field instrument for measurements of groundwater flow direction and velocity.

REFERENCES

- Cronk, Tom A. 1992. A Theoretical Investigation of the Relationship Between Flow Velocities in a Well Bore and Specific Discharge Velocities in the Surrounding Porous Media. M.S. Thesis, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, Colo.
- Drost, W., D. Klotz, A. Koch, H. Moser, F. Neumaier, and W. Rauert. 1968. Point dilution methods of investigating groundwater flow by means of radioisotopes. *Water Resources*, 4(1):125-146.
- Jordan, E. C. 1988. Hydrogeologic Summary Report, Task 1-8. Draft. Installation Restoration Program, Massachusetts Military Reservation. E. C. Jordan Co., Portland, Maine for Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, Tenn.
- LeBlanc, D. R., S. P. Garabedian, K. M. Hess, L. W. Gelhar, R. D. Quadri, K. G. Stollenwerk, and W. W. Wood. 1991. Large-scale natural gradient tracer test in zand and gravel, Cape Cod, Massachusetts, 1. Experimental design and observed tracer movement. *Water Resources Research*, 27(5):895-910.
- Oldale, Robert N. 1981. Pleistocene Stratigraphy of Nantucket, Martha's Vineyard, The Elizabeth Islands, and Cape Cod, Massachusetts. U. S. Geological Survey, Reston, VA.
- Oldale, Robert N., and Roger A. Barlow. 1986. Geological Map of Cape Cod and the Islands, Massachusetts. Department of the Interior, U. S. Geological Survey, Reston, VA.

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

.

BBM	-	Buzzards Bay moraine
BCL	-	below casing level
CCD	-	charge-coupled device
HAZWRAP	-	Hazardous Waste Remedial Actions Program
MMR	-	Massachussets Military Reservation
MPP	-	Mashpee Pitted Plain
ORNL	-	Oak Ridge National Laboratory
SM	-	Sandwich moraine
STP	-	Sewage Treatment Plant

INTERNAL DISTRIBUTION

- 1. T. L. Ashwood
- 2. L. Bates
- 3. B. A. Berven
- 4. J. B. Cannon
- 5. J. H. Cushman
- 6. K. S. Dickerson
- 7. M. P. Farrell
- 8. D. E. Fowler
- 9. S. B. Garland
- 10. C. W. Gehrs
- 11. S. C. Hall
- 12. S. G. Hildebrand
- 13. P. Kanciruk
- 14. A. D. Laase
- 15. C. A. Little
- 16. C. A. Muhr

- 17. P. T. Owen
- 18. J. E. Peterson
- 19. D. A. Pickering
- 20. D. E. Reichle
- 21. F. E. Sharples
- 22. D. S. Shriner
- 23. R. L. Siegrist
- 24. S. H. Stow
- 25. R. I. Van Hook
- 26-30. ORNL/GJ Library
 - 31. Central Research Library
- 32-46. ESD Library
- 47-48. Laboratory Records Dept.
 - 49. Laboratory Records, ORNL-RC
 - 50. ORNL Patent Office
 - 51. ORNL Y-12 Technical Library

EXTERNAL DISTRIBUTION

- 52. D. E. Brown, Allied Signal Inc., Dept. 922, MC SC8, 2000 East 95th Street, Kansas City, MO 64131
- 53. J. F. Franklin, Bloedel Professor of Ecosystem Analysis, College of Forest Resources, University of Washington, Anderson Hall (AR-10), Seattle, WA 98195
- 54. R. C. Harriss, Institute for the Study of Earth, Oceans, and Space, Science and Engineering Research Building, University of New Hampshire, Durham, NH 03824
- 55. P. Hoopes, DOE KC Area Office, 2000 East 95th Street, P.O. Box 202, Kansas City, MO 64131
- 56. G. Y. Jordy, Director, Office of Program Analysis, Office of Energy Research, ER-30, G-226, U.S. Department of Energy, Washington, DC 20545
- 57. P. M. Kearl, ORNL-Grand Junction, P.O. Box 2567, Grand Junction, CO 81502
- 58. P. Keary, DOE KC Area Office, 2000 East 95th Street, Kansas City, MO 64131
- 59. E. Kelly, Allied Signal Inc., 2000 East 95th Street, D/271 FV43, Kansas City, MO 64131
- 60-83. N. E. Korte, ORNL-Grand Junction, P.O. Box 2567, Grand Junction, CO 81502
 - 84. D. Neff, EG&G, P.O. Box 3000, Miamisburg, OH 45343
 - R. H. Olsen, Professor, Microbiology and Immunology Department, University of Michigan, Medical Science Building II, #5605, 1301 East Catherine Street, Ann Arbor, MI 48109-0620

- 86. A. Patrinos, Director, Environmental Sciences Division, Office of Health and Environmental Research, ER-74, U.S. Department of Energy, Washington, DC 20585
- 87. S. Ritchey, USEPA Region VII, 726 Minnesota Avenue, Kansas City, KS 66101
- M. Stites, Allied Signal, Inc., Dept. 922, MC SC8, 2000 East 95th Street, Kansas City, MO 64131
- 89. D. L. Stoltz, Allied Signal, Inc., 2000 East 95th Street, Kansas City, MO 64131
- B. Stuart, Waste Management Program MDNR, P.O. Box 176, Jefferson City, MO 65102
- 91. S. Wagner, Los Alamos National Laboratory, P.O. Box 1663, MS-K485, Los Alamos, NM 87544
- 92. S. E. White, Allied Signal, Inc., Department 922, MC SC8, 2000 East 95 Street, Kansas City, MO 64131
- Frank J. Wobber, Environmental Sciences Division, Office of Health and Environmental Research, ER-74, U.S. Department of Energy, Washington, DC 20545
- 94. Office of Assistant Manager for Energy Research and Development, U.S. Department of Energy Oak Ridge Field Office, P.O. Box 2001, U.S. Department of Energy, Oak Ridge, TN 37831-8600
- 95-96. Office of Scientific and Technical Information, P.O. Box 62, Oak Ridge, TN 37831